FILED
DECEMBER 23, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 32103-7-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

٧.

TYSON J. ROMANESCHI, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kenneth H. Kato, WSBA # 6400 Attorney for Appellant 1020 N. Washington St. Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 220-2237

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred by denying the motion to suppress.
- 2. The court erred by entering finding of fact 13:

There was no testimony that there was anything coercive, any kind of trick techniques used or any kind of coercion, whether physical, psychological, or otherwise by law enforcement.

- 3. The court erred when it read incorrect instruction 9 to the jury, later changed that instruction in the written set given to the jury, and did not read the revised instruction to the jury.
- 4. The court erred by instructing the reporter not to report the jury instruction conference.
- 5. The State's evidence was insufficient to support the conviction for assault of a child in the first degree because it failed to prove intent beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- A. Did the court err by denying the motion to suppress when it found the statements were not coerced? (Assignments of Error 1 and 2).
- B. Did the court err when it read instruction 9 to the jury, later changed that instruction in the written set given to the jury, and

did not read the revised instruction to the jury? (Assignment of Error 3).

- C. Did the court err by instructing the court reporter not to report the jury instruction conference? (Assignment of Error 4).
- D. Was the State's evidence insufficient to support the conviction for assault of a child in the first degree when it failed to prove intent beyond a reasonable doubt? (Assignment of Error 5).

 II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Tyson J. Romaneschi was charged by second amended information with count I: assault of a child in the first degree; count II: violation of a no contact order; count III: violation of an order for protection; and count IV: tampering with a witness. (CP 162). Prior to trial, he moved to suppress statements he made to police. The court held a CrR 3.5 hearing to determine whether those statements to police should be suppressed. (CP 117; 10/19/12 RP 27). He claimed they were coerced. (10/19/12 RP 70). Finding the statements admissible, the court entered these findings of fact and conclusions of law:

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. On February 7, 2012, the defendant voluntarily met

with Detectives Gallion and Pogachar at the Spokane Police Detectives' Office at the invitation of the detectives to talk about his daughter's injuries.

- 2. Detective Gallion advised the defendant of his *Miranda* warnings from a rights card prior to questioning him.
- 3. The defendant waived his rights and agreed to answer the detectives' questions.
- 4. There was no indication that the defendant did not understand his rights.
- 5. There was no indication that he was under the influence of alcohol or drugs.
- 6. There was no indication that he was befuddled by any of the standard rights that were read from the rights card. He appeared to understand his rights and clearly waived them.
- 7. The Detectives' Office is a securely locked building like others on the court house campus.
- 8. The defendant was not handcuffed and he was not locked inside a room.
- 9. There was no indication that he was not free to leave.
- 10. The defendant made numerous statements to the detectives about his interactions with his daughter and how she may have sustained her injuries.
- 11. After a period of time the defendant advised the detectives that he did not want to answer any additional questions and the interview ended.
- 12. The defendant walked out of the Detectives' Office conference room and let himself out of the building.

- 13. There was no testimony that there was anything coercive, any kind of tricky techniques used or any kind of coercion, whether physical, psychological, or otherwise by law enforcement.
- 14. From the foregoing Findings of Fact, the Court makes the following

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

- 1. The defendant was read his constitutional rights prior to being asked any questions.
- 2. The defendant indicated that he understood his rights and he answered questions.
- 3. The defendant willingly gave up his rights and answered questions.
- 4. When the defendant advised he did not want to answer any more questions, he stopped and left.
- 5. This was an interrogation, so to speak, but it was not custodial in nature in any stretch of the imagination.
- 6. Even if it were, the defendant was read his *Miranda* warnings.
- 7. The statements made by the defendant would be admissible at time of trial. (CP 117-119).

The case proceeded to jury trial.

Shayna Tipton was the mother of ENR, born on December 13, 2011. (7/9/13 RP 205-06). The father of their baby girl was Mr. Romaneschi. (*Id.* at 206). Part of the prenatal care was to take

vitamin D. (*Id.* at 209). Mr. Romaneschi and Ms. Tipton were engaged and she stayed with him at his mother's house. (*Id.*). Ms. Tipton had a normal delivery and was taking vitamins and solely breast-feeding ENR. (*Id.* at 211).

Dr. Timothy Crum at Rockwood Clinic was ENR's physician. (7/1913 RP 211-12). Her first well-baby visit with Dr. Crum was on the third day of life and the second visit was about 7 days later. (*Id.* at 212). Both Ms. Tipton and Mr. Romaneschi went to the doctor's. (*Id.* at 213). ENR was on liquid vitamin D at Dr. Crum's direction. (*Id.*). After her second visit, she was also being fed Enfamil newborn formula to supplement the breast-feeding. (*Id.* at 214). Mr. Romaneschi usually gave ENR the formula at night while Ms. Tipton breast-fed her in the day. (*Id.*). The parents were not working. (*Id.* at 215). Mr. Romaneschi's mother Karey, his sister Ashley, and her boyfriend Eric Malmquist baby-sat ENR. (*Id.*). Ms. Tipton had no concerns with any of the baby-sitters. (*Id.* at 215, 220-21).

Mr. Romaneschi interacted and played with ENR a lot. (7/9/13 RP 222). He would hold her and she would sometimes cry. (*Id.* at 224). His mother told Ms. Tipton that was normal and it was

just ENR getting used to a man around. (*Id.*). She did not cry, however, with Mr. Romaneschi's father or Mr. Malmquist. (*Id.*). Ms. Tipton said she had some concern ENR had been hurt by Mr. Romaneschi when she saw bruises on her arm and shoulder. (*Id.* at 225). But she did not say anything until after the bruises as she did not think he was hurting her, just a bit rough. (*Id.*).