APPELLANT’S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court erred by denying the motion to suppress. 

2. The court erred by entering finding of fact 13. 

There was no testimony that there was anything coercive, any kind 

of trick techniques used or any kind of coercion, whether physical, 

psychological, or otherwise by law enforcement. 

3. The court erred when it read incorrect instruction 9 to the jury, 

later changed that instruction in the written set given to the jury, 

and did not read the revised instruction to the jury. 

4. The court erred by instructing the reporter not to report the jury 

instruction conference.

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

V. ARGUMENT 

A. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD 

FROM WHICH THE TRIAL COURT COULD HAVE FOUND 

THE CONFESSION WAS VOLUNTARY. 

In the written findings of fact and conclusions of law, the trial 

court found under finding of fact 13: “There was no testimony that there 

was anything coercive, any kind of tricky techniques used or any kind of 

coercion, whether physical, psychological, or otherwise by law 

enforcement.” CP 118 In addition, the court orally found there were no 

threats; and, the atmosphere in the conference room during the appellant’s 

                                                                                                                         

these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.” 

RP 936. 
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interview was not coercive. RP 72.
10

 The court also found the appellant 

was not locked in any room or handcuffed, (FF 8; CP 118) and, when the 

appellant terminated the interview, he walked out of the interview and let 

himself out of the building (FF 11; FF 12; CP 118).  

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution states that 

“[n]o person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness 

against himself.” U.S. Const. amend. V. Article I, section 9 of the 

Washington State Constitution provides the same protection. State v. 

Mendes, 180 Wn.2d 188, 194, 322 P.3d 791 (2014). 

Standard of review regarding a confession. 

This court reviews de novo the validity of a suspect’s waiver of 

Miranda rights and it will uphold the trial court's voluntariness 

determination “if there is substantial evidence in the record from which 

the trial court could have found the confession was voluntary by a 

preponderance of the evidence.” State v. Aten, 130 Wn.2d 640, 664, 927 

P.2d 210 (1996); see also State v. Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d 118, 130, 942 

P.2d 363 (1997). 

                                                 
10

 Where written findings of fact are incomplete, this court may rely 

on the trial court's oral findings for purposes of review. State v. Bynum, 76 

Wn.App. 262, 884 P.2d 10 (1994), review denied, 126 Wn.2d 1012, 

(1995).  
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To be admissible, this court has found a defendant's statement to 

law enforcement must pass two tests of voluntariness: (1) the due process 

test, whether the statement was the product of police coercion; and (2) the 

Miranda test, whether a defendant who has been informed of his rights 

thereafter knowingly and intelligently waived those rights before making a 

statement. State v. DeLeon, 341 P.3d 315, 330 (Wn.App. Div. 3, 2014); 

State v. Reuben, 62 Wn.App. 620, 624, 814 P.2d 1177 (1991).  

 A reviewing court will evaluate the totality of the circumstances to 

determine whether custodial statements were voluntarily given. DeLeon, 

341 P.3d at 330. When examining the totality of the circumstances 

surrounding a defendant's confession, courts consider the location, length, 

and continuity of the interrogation; the defendant's maturity, education, 

physical condition, and mental health; and whether the police had advised 

the defendant of his Fifth Amendment rights. State v. Unga, 165 Wn.2d 

95, 101, 196 P.3d 645 (2008). Additionally, “[t]he totality-of-the-

circumstances test specifically applies to determine whether a confession 

was coerced by any express or implied promise or by the exertion of any 

improper influence.” Unga, 165 Wn.2d at 101  

A defendant's custodial statements are not admissible at trial if 

police tactics manipulated or prevented the defendant from making a 

rational, independent decision about giving a statement. Unga, 165 Wn.2d 
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at 102. The question is “[w]hether [the interrogating officer's] statements 

were so manipulative or coercive that they deprived [the suspect] of his 

ability to make an unconstrained, autonomous decision to confess.” Unga, 

165 Wn.2d at 102 

A police officer's psychological ploys such as playing on the 

suspect's sympathies, saying that honesty is the best policy for a person 

hoping for leniency, or telling the suspect that he could help himself by 

cooperating may play a part in a suspect's decision to confess, “but so long 

as that decision is a product of the suspect's own balancing of competing 

considerations, the confession is voluntary.” Unga, 165 Wn.2d at 102; 

State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 679, 683 P.2d 571 (1984). 

For example, in Unga, the appellant argued that a detective 

induced his confession with a promise not to prosecute. Unga. at 107. The 

court noted that a “promise does not per se render a confession 

involuntary; it is one factor among the totality of the circumstances.” Id. at 

108. Unga received his Miranda rights, understood and waived those 

rights, and was old enough to make a voluntary and intelligent statement. 

Id. at 108. There was no evidence that he lacked capacity. Id. Unga's 

questioning lasted only 30 minutes, he was in a room with the door left 

open, and there was no evidence that the detective used a threatening tone 

or intimidated him. Id. at 109. And, there was no evidence that Unga was 



21 

 

denied food, sleep, or bathroom facilities. Id. Under the totality of the 

circumstances, Unga's confession was not coerced. Id. at 111. 

Here and contrary to the appellant’s claim and argument, he was 

advised by Detective Gallion he could have a lawyer before and at the 

time of questioning. RP 31. The trial court found the appellant had been 

advised of his Miranda warning prior to questioning by officers. CP 118. 

The record is devoid of any evidence that law enforcement spoke with 

defendant-other than a short visit with him at the hospital-until he arrived 

unannounced with his fiancé at the detective’s office on February 7, 2012. 

With respect to the appellant’s mental state during the interview, 

he claims he was immature and/or in a fragile mental health at the time of 

questioning is unsupported in the record. See, App.Br. at 28. 

There is no evidence supporting the suggestion that the officers 

played “good cop” and “bad cop” other than by supposition in appellant’s 

opening brief. See, App.Br. at 25. The fact that both officers questioned 

the appellant does not aid his argument. 

The record is bare of any facts which would suggest the appellant’s 

free will was domineered to the degree that he said what he believed the 

officer’s wanted to hear. To the contrary, he described his behavior toward 

the child as inadvertent throughout the interview, CP 38-39; he minimized 

his involvement stating he did not know his own strength, RP 34; and he 
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terminated the interview on his own volition, by walking out of the 

detectives’ office. RP 52. 

In summary, the appellant received his rights both verbally and in 

writing, he understood the warnings and waived those rights. There was 

no evidence he lacked capacity or that he was impaired. The questioning 

only lasted approximately 45 minutes. The conference room door was 

unlocked. Appellant eventually walked out of the office after ending the 

interview. There is no evidence the detectives threatened the appellant or 

intimidated him. To the contrary, detectives attempted to calm the 

appellant during the interview. There was no evidence the appellant was 

denied food, sleep, or the restroom facility. 

Under the totality of the circumstances, the appellant’s confession 

was not coerced and there was no error. 

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT READ AN 

INCORRECT INSTRUCTION NUMBER 9 TO THE JURY 

AND, BEFORE DELIBERATIONS, CORRECTED THE 

WRITTEN INSTRUCTION. 

The appellant complains for the first time on appeal that the trial 

court’s instruction number nine (definitional instruction) was incorrect 

when read to the jury, but corrected in written form and provided to the 

jury before deliberations began. There is no dispute the trial court’s 
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corrected definitional instruction number 9 was a correct statement of the 

law. 

1. The appellant has waived his claim of error. 

Generally, a party who fails to object to jury instructions in the 

trial court waives a claim of error on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)
11

; State v. 

Schaler, 169 Wn.2d 274, 282, 236 P.3d 858 (2010); State v. Smith, 174 

Wn.App. 359, 364, 298 P.3d 785 (2013). This court reviews a challenged 

jury instruction de novo. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 

1241 (2007). 

 As this court observed in State v. Guzman Nuñez, 160 Wn.App. 

150, 157, 248 P.3d 103 (2011), aff'd, 174 Wn.2d 707, 285 P.3d 21 (2012): 

“[T]he general rule has specific applicability with respect to claimed errors 

in jury instructions in criminal cases through CrR 6.15(c),
12

 requiring that 

                                                 
11

 RAP 2.5(a) states an appellate court may refuse to review any 

claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. An error of 

constitutional magnitude can be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 

2.5(3); Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 685. 

 
12

 CrR 6.15(c) states: “Objection to Instructions. Before instructing 

the jury, the court shall supply counsel with copies of the proposed 

numbered instructions, verdict and special finding forms. The court shall 

afford to counsel an opportunity in the absence of the jury to object to the 

giving of any instructions and the refusal to give a requested instruction or 

submission of a verdict or special finding form. The party objecting shall 

state the reasons for the objection, specifying the number, paragraph, and 

particular part of the instruction to be given or refused. The court shall 



24 

 

timely and well stated objections be made to instructions given or refused 

‘in order that the trial court may have the opportunity to correct any 

error.’” Accord,  State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 75-76, 292 P.3d 715, 

(2012) (any objections to the instructions, as well as the grounds for the 

objections, must be put in the record to preserve review). 

Here, the appellant waived his claim of error because he did not 

object at the time the court took exceptions and objections to the jury 

instructions. An objection to the incorrect instruction number 9 would 

have permitted the trial court the opportunity to correct the minor error 

before verbally instructing the jury. RP 929. In fact, the appellant 

acknowledged the error before deliberations began and agreed that the 

error should be fixed in the written instruction. RP 998. However, he did 

not request the court reinstruct the jury with respect to the correct written 

instruction number 9 before deliberations began. He cannot, at this time, 

cry foul because he had the opportunity to have the trial court correct and 

reread instruction number 9 to the jury.
13

 He has waived his claim of error. 

                                                                                                                         

provide counsel for each party with a copy of the instructions in their final 

form.” 

 
13

 In State v. Sanchez, 122 Wn.App. 579, 94 P.3d 384 (2004), this 

court was presented with different facts. In Sanchez, the trial court 

“skipped over” the jury instruction defining assault when it orally 

instructed the jury on the law. 122 Wn.App. at 585. Thus, having followed 

CrR 6.15(a) and (c), the trial court then failed to read aloud (for whatever 
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2. The appellant cannot establish actual prejudice, and, 

therefore, an issue of constitutional magnitude. 

To overcome RAP 2.5(a) and raise an error for the first time on 

appeal, an appellant must first demonstrate that the error is “truly of 

constitutional dimension.” State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 

756 (2009). This court will not assume an error is of constitutional 

magnitude. State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d, 687, 727 P.2d 492 (1988). A 

constitutional error is manifest “[i]f the appellant can show actual 

prejudice, i.e., there must be a ‘plausible showing by the [appellant] that 

the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of 

the case.’” State v. Gordon, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011) 

(citation omitted). Stated alternatively, the appellant must “identify a 

constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the 

[appellant]'s rights at trial.” O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98.
14

 

This court narrowly construes exceptions to RAP 2.5(a). State v. 

Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 595, 183 P.3d 267 (2008).  

                                                                                                                         

reason) a final instruction agreed upon by both parties, as contemplated by 

CrR 6.15(d). In contrast, at Appellant’s trial, the trial court initially read to 

the jury, every instruction agreed upon by both parties, and, it satisfied 

CrR 6.15(d).  
14

 Jury instructional errors that appellate courts have held constituted 

manifest constitutional error include: directing a verdict, shifting the 

burden of proof to the defendant, failing to define the beyond a reasonable 

doubt standard, failing to require a unanimous verdict, and omitting an 

element of the crime charged. O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 100. 
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In determining whether a claimed error is manifest, this court 

views the claimed error in the context of the record as a whole, rather than 

in isolation. Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 688. Manifest error is “unmistakable, 

evident or indisputable.” State v. Burke, 163 Wn.2d 204, 224, 181 P.3d 1 

(2008). Instructional error is not automatically constitutional error. 

Guzman Nunez, 160 Wn.App. at 159. 

 “[A]s long as the instructions properly inform the jury of the 

elements of the charged crime, any error in further defining terms used in 

the elements is not of constitutional magnitude.” State v. Gordon, 172 

Wn.2d at 677, ; State v. Stearns, 119 Wn.2d 247, 250, 830 P.2d 355 

(1992). “Even an error in defining technical terms does not rise to the level 

of constitutional error.” Gordon, 172 Wn.2d at 677.
15

 

The present case falls under the latter category because it is 

definitional. The appellant cannot and has not established a plausible 

showing that the asserted error had practical or identifiable consequences 

at the time of trial. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99. Because he fails to establish 

                                                 
15

 For example, failure to instruct on a lesser included 

offense, State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 745-49, 747, 718 P.2d 407 (1986), 

overruled on other grounds, State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 313 

(1994); and the failure to define individual terms, Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 

690-91; O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 101, do not constitute manifest 

constitutional error.  
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any consequences, he fails to identify a manifest error affecting a 

constitutional right. The appellant’s claim fails and it has no merit. 

3. If this court determines that submitting the corrected 

definitional instruction number 9 to the jury before 

deliberations, without reinstructing the jury, is of 

constitutional magnitude, it was harmless error. 

Should this court determine that a claim of manifest constitutional 

error has been raised, “it may still be subject to a harmless error analysis.” 

O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98. “A constitutional error is harmless if the 

appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any 

reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the 

error. State v. Schaler, 169 Wn.2d 274, at 287–88. By example, omission 

of an element from a “to convict” instruction is harmless error if it is clear 

beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. 

Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 15, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 

(1999); State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 840–41, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). 

Even if the appellant can successfully establish the jury instruction 

claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it was harmless. The trial 

court's corrected “definitional” instruction number 9 and the “elements” 

instruction number 10 both accurately informed the jury of the “elements” 

of assault of a child in the first degree and the State's burden to prove each 

element beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover, the appellant did not tailor 
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the presentation of his case or his closing argument on the inclusion of the 

“torture” prong in the elements instruction. Nor was it discussed or argued 

by either side during the case or closing argument. There was no evidence 

the jury based its decision on the inclusion of the “torture” prong language 

during the original reading of the jury instructions. Accordingly, there was 

no error. 

C. THE APPELLANT HAS WAIVED ANY CLAIM OF ERROR IN 

THE TRIAL COURT’S FAILURE TO PRESERVE A RECORD 

DURING THE INFORMAL INSTRUCTIONS CONFERENCE 

WHERE APPELLATE COUNSEL HAS MADE NO ATTEMPT 

TO SUPPLEMENT OR CURE THE RECORD. 

The appellant complains there was no record of the court’s 

informal instruction conference. See, App.Br. at 33; RP 929. 

A criminal defendant must have a “record of sufficient 

completeness” for appellate review of potential errors. State v. Larson, 62 

Wn.2d 64, 66, 381 P.2d 120 (1963) But a “complete verbatim transcript” 

is not required. State v. Tilton, 149 Wn.2d 775, 781, 72 P.3d 735 (2003). 

In Tilton, supra, the court held a reconstructed record was 

insufficient and reversed where (1) the defendant’s testimony was not 

recorded, Id. at 779; (2) his trial lawyer had no recollection of the 

defendant's testimony; and (3) the defendant's unrecorded testimony was 

essential to his appeal. Id. at 783. Despite its holding under the specific 

facts of the case, the Supreme Court generally noted that a new trial will 
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seldom be required when a report of proceedings is not recorded or where 

it has been lost. Id. 

It is the appellant's duty to make all reasonable efforts to acquire a 

record of sufficient completeness for appellate review. RAP 9.1 (b). 

Here, the appellant has not used any of the available means of 

providing a substitute record of the informal instructions conference. 

RCW 2.32.200 requires the court reporter to create a full report of oral 

proceedings only at the affirmative request of either party or counsel, or at 

the option of the trial judge. In re Adoption of Coggins, 13 Wn.App. 736, 

738, 537 P.2d 287 (1975). Appellant did not request a record of the 

informal jury instruction conference. 

Moreover, Appellant could have prepared a narrative report of 

proceedings (RAP 9.3), an agreed report of proceedings (RAP 9.4), or 

affidavits from counsel and/or the trial court to determine what occurred at 

the instruction conference. See, State v. Miller, 40 Wn.App. 483, 698 P.2d 

1123 (1985) (the defendant waived any claim of error in trial court's 

failure to preserve a record where appellate counsel made no attempt to 

cure the record with affidavits from the court or counsel). 

 The appellant’s claim is without merit. 
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D. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT THE 

APPELLANT OF ASSAULT OF A CHILD IN THE FIRST 

DEGREE. 

1. Standard of review for sufficiency of evidence. 

The appellant claims the State did not establish the appellant’s 

intent to commit the crime of assault of a child in the first degree. See, 

App.Br. at p. 34. 

In reviewing claims of insufficiency of the evidence, the standard 

of review is whether any rational trier of fact, viewing the evidence in a 

light most favorable to the State, could have found the elements of the 

crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316, 

99 S.Ct. 2781, 2787, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 

216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); State v. McBride  74 Wn.App. 460, 463, 873 

P.2d 589 (1994). 

This court draws all reasonable inferences from the evidence in 

favor of the State and interprets it most strongly against the defendant. 

State v. Brown, 162 Wn.2d 422, 173 P.3d 245 (2007). An insufficiency 

claim admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences 

from it. Brown, 162 Wn.2d at 428. “Credibility determinations are for the 

trier of fact and are not subject to review.” Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 874. 

The appellant was charged under RCW 9A.36.120(1). That statute 

provides, in pertinent part, and, as charged in the information: 
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A person eighteen years of age or older is guilty of the 

crime of assault of a child in the first degree if the child is 

under the age of thirteen and the person:… (b) Intentionally 

assaults the child and… (ii) Causes substantial bodily harm, 

and the person has previously engaged in a pattern or 

practice either of (A) assaulting the child which has 

resulted in bodily harm that is greater than transient 

physical pain or minor temporary marks…. 

 

RCW 9A.36.120(1). 

 

 The trial court defined assault for the jury with instruction number 

11. It stated: 

An assault is an intentional touching of another person that 

is harmful or offensive regardless of whether any serious 

physical injury is done to the person. A touching is 

offensive if the touching would offend an ordinary person 

who is not unduly sensitive. 

 

RP 935-36. 

 

Intent is defined as acting with the ‘objective or purpose to 

accomplish a result which constitutes a crime.’ RCW 9A.08.010(a). See, 

instruction number 12. 

2. Evidence of intent. 

A finder of fact may reasonably infer criminal intent from the 

defendant's conduct as a matter of logical probability. State v. Myers, 133 

Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997). In making this inference, 

circumstantial evidence is equally reliable as direct evidence. Myers, 133 

Wn.2d at 38. Accordingly, a jury evaluates the credibility of all witnesses, 
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and the existence of conflicting evidence does not justify a new trial; 

instead, the finding of the jury is final. State v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 

221, 634 P.2d 868 (1981). 

Here, the child arrived at the hospital and it was determined that 

she had 21 separate fractures throughout her six-week-old body that were 

in various stages of healing. Dr. Messer stated force was applied “over and 

over and over” again to the child. 

The appellant admitted he, at times, was too “rough” with the 

child. For instance he would forcefully press the child against his chest to 

cause the child cry to facilitate her sleep; or he would rapidly bend the 

child’s legs up and down to facilitate the child falling asleep; and/or he 

would squeeze the child’s hands very hard. He also told detectives he 

becomes easily frustrated. He also admitted the child’s mother took E.R. 

from him because he was too rough. He also became angry with detectives 

and Detective Gallion had to calm him down during the interview. 

The child’s mother observed bruising on the baby’s arm and 

shoulder. Several times while the appellant was feeding the child at night, 

the mother heard the baby crying very loudly, close to a shrieking sound 

even though the baby was normally quiet. At one point, the mother took 

over the entire feeding. The baby did not have any more fractures after she 

was physically removed from the appellant’s care.  
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The appellant’s attempt to minimize or deny his actions to law 

enforcement is of no consequence. At times, suspects will deny or 

minimize their criminal activity to gain favor with law enforcement or 

others. 

Certainly a jury could infer, from both direct and circumstantial 

evidence, that appellant repeatedly used substantial force over a period of 

time against the baby causing multiple serious fractures. His intent to 

assault the child generally materialized when the child cried or became 

fussy. A jury could infer appellant became angry and frustrated with the 

baby because she would not stop crying; resultantly, appellant causing 

pain and injury to the baby. 

Interpreting the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a 

reasonable jury could find the appellant’s actions over a period of time 

were intentionally harmful or offensive to the baby which caused 

substantial bodily injury. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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CONCLUSION 

The respondent respectfully requests the court affirm the 

defendant’s convictions and sentence for the reasons stated above.